Strong correlation between diet and development of colorectal cancer

Alessandro Cappellani¹, Antonio Zanghi¹, Maria Di Vita¹, Andrea Cavallaro¹, Gaetano Piccolo¹, Pierfrancesco Veroux², Emanuele Lo Menzo³, Vincenzo Cavallaro⁴, Paolo de Paoli⁵, Massimiliano Veroux², Massimiliano Berretta ⁶

¹Department of Surgery, General Surgery and Breast Unit, University of Catania, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria, Policlinico Vittorio Emanuele, via S. Sofia, 78, 95123 Catania Italy, ²Department of Surgery, Transplantation and Advanced Technologies, University of Catania, Italy, ³Division of Laparoscopic and Bariatric Surgery, University of Maryland, Baltimore, MD USA, ⁴Department of Surgery, Digestive Surgery Unit, University of Catania, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Policlinico, Vittorio Emanuele, via S. Sofia, 78, 95123 Catania Italy, ⁵Scientific Direction, National Cancer Institute, I.R.C.C.S., via Franco Gallini 2, 33081 Aviano (PN), Italy, ⁶Department of Medical Oncology, National Cancer Institute, I.R.C.C.S., via Franco Gallini 2, 33081 Aviano (PN), Italy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Epidemiology: an introduction
 - 2.1. The epigenetic modifications and the "methylation and carcinogenesis pendulum model"
 - 2.2. The link between the metabolic status and the perpetuation of a chronic low inflammatory level in the colonic mucosa
- 3. Obesity and physical activity
- 4. Red meat intake
- 5. Glycaemic index, glycaemic load and insulin resistance
- 6. Smoking and alcohol
- 7. Dietary fibers
- 8. Fruit and vegetables
- 9. Fish and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids
- 10. Folate
- 11. Conclusion
- 12. References

1. ABSTRACT

Multiple factors have been described among the causes of non-hereditary colorectal cancer. In Western countries, the most common risk factors include uppermiddle socioeconomic status and dietary regimens rich in proteins and animal fats. High consumption of red meats, smoked foods, cold cuts, or canned foods is believed to contribute to carcinogenesis as they directly affect epithlial turnover and cause metabolism of biliary acids. Dietary fibers have protective effects in that they capture the fats and biliary acids, thereby inhibiting their activity. Tobacco smoking acts both locally and systemically on the colorectal mucosa through the production of carcinogenic agents. Finally, the action of alcohol, in association with nicotine addiction, also increases the risk of developing colorectal tumors. Knowledge of dietary and environmental factors is of paramount importance in implementing preventive strategies for colorectal cancer.

2. EPIDEMIOLOGY AND INTRODUCTION

According to the International Agency for Research on Cancer data, colorectal cancer (CRC) is one of the most commonly diagnosed neoplasms in industrialized countries, with about 1 million new cases every year. Conversely, in non-industrialized areas, CRC risk reduces to 1 per 100,000 inhabitants (1). In Europe, colorectal carcinoma is the most frequent tumor in non-smoking subjects, accounting for 220,000 new cases per year, and constituting the second-most common cause of death from neoplasm after lung carcinoma in men and breast carcinoma in women (2). In Italy, the actual incidence rate of colorectal carcinoma is 35,000-40,000 new cases per year, with a greater prevalence in the Central-Northern regions compared to the South, probably due to different lifestyles and diets (3). For sporadic colorectal carcinoma, environmental factors, rather than genetic alterations, have a pivotal role in the etiology of the disease (4). In this respect, many retrospective

studies have observed that migrant populations moving from regions with low incidences of cancer to developed Western countries acquire the same risk levels as the native population within the first generation (5). An example of this is the increase in CRC incidence in Japan during the 20th century, when this population underwent an important and fast modification of diet, by adopting more Westernized dietary habits (5-7). The 2 most important physiopathological theories connecting diet to CRC are based on epigenetic modifications in the expression of genes regulating proliferation (i.e., apoptosis along with DNA repair) and on the hypothesized link between the metabolic status and the perpetuation of a chronic low inflammatory level in the colonic mucosa (8-14).

2.1 The epigenetic modifications and the "methylation and carcinogenesis pendulum model"

The sporadic nature of CRC is derived from the adenoma-carcinoma sequence, in which malignant tumors develop from a small proportion of adenomatous polyps, probably over a period of several decades (15-17). The molecular basis of the carcinogenetic sequence is relatively well established, compared with most human cancers (1517). The morphological changes in the adenomacarcinoma sequence are associated with progressive acquisition of DNA mutations, including somatic mutations of proto-oncogenes or tumor-suppressor genes (18-19). For example, the "gatekeeper" mutation, a homozygous mutation of the APC gene, is thought to be the first genetic change in the adenoma-carcinoma sequence (18). Large adenomatous polyps and malignant tumors often have a mutation in the k-ras proto-oncogene. Additionally, mutations in the tumor suppressor gene p53 appear to be typically associated with the transition to carcinoma (19). In addition to these somatic mutations, neoplastic progression in many tissues is also due to epigenetic modifications in the expression of the same genes that regulate proliferation, apoptosis, and DNA repair (14). The most studied epigenetic mechanism is the hypermethylation of the cytosine residues in CpG-rich sequences (CpG-islands) located within the promoter regions of expressed genes (20). This does not alter the DNA integrity, but the methylation of these sequences leads to the progressive silencing of the DNArepair genes, such as DNA mismatch repair (MLH1) genes and tumor suppressor genes, with consequential abnormal cell proliferation (20-22). Many foods can alter this methylation equilibrium; it is hypothesized that certain dietary factors can interfere with this carcinogenesis pendulum model by preventing or promoting either promoter hypermethylation or global hypomethylation (4).

2.2 The link between the metabolic status and the perpetuation of a chronic low inflammatory level in the colonic mucosa

According to this theory, obesity and low physical activity, together with dietary factors, can induce a distorted metabolic status linked to a low level of chronic and asymptomatic inflammatory activity in the colonic mucosa, which leads to greater vulnerability to cancer development (13, 16). Adipose tissue is a source of a variety of proinflammatory signal factors and cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-) and interleukin-6 (IL-6).

These mediators, among others, create a systemic, low-grade inflammatory state, which is a substratum condition for carcinogenesis (11-12). Therefore, colon cancer may be considered one of the diseases related to "the Western life-style," which includes non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, and metabolic syndrome (16).

3. OBESITY AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

For over 50 years, numerous studies, both retrospective and prospective, have provided substantial evidence that overweight and obesity can be directly associated with the risk of developing cancer of the digestive tract or other organs (23-26). A study by Lee et al. performed between 1962 and 1988 showed a direct correlation between body mass index (BMI) and increased disease risk. In particular, the risk increased in a statistically significant manner in patients with particularly low levels of physical activity (27). More recent studies performed by Diez and Boutron revealed that some factors, i.e., body weight, caloric intake, and physical activity, might independently influence both early and late stages of the adenomacarcinoma sequence (28-29). Their data show that physical activity can reduce the risk of cancer by significantly affecting the development of adenomas. Additionally, a particularly high BMI is associated with an increased risk for large sessile adenomas, while a highly calorific diet can increase the risk for cancer, but not for adenoma (2829). In a recent prospective study conducted in approximately 400,000 European subjects, the researchers found that the physically active population had a 20%-25% risk reduction for colon cancer, in general, and a 30% reduction for rightsided colon neoplasms. Physical activity was defined as 2 hours of moderately intense exercise or 1 hour of vigorous exercise daily (30). Other studies have investigated the role of fat distribution as a more influential prognostic factor in the pathogenesis of CRC, as opposed to the degree of obesity as indicated by the BMI (3133). In fact, Moore et al. observed a direct correlation between higher-waist circumference and CRC in both men and women, independent of their BMI. The evidence was even more significant in the subgroup of patients with reduced physical activity (31). This correlation is also supported by a recent trial (EPIC trial), although the separate analysis of men and women makes the evidence less compelling (32). However, current evidence does not support the positive correlation between colon cancer and higher-waist circumference and waist-hip ratio in post-menopausal women under hormone replacement therapy. Furthermore, the positive correlation is not applicable to cancer of the rectum (33).

The mechanism involved in the obesity-colon cancer relationship seems to be an asymptomatic chronic inflammation of the colic mucosa, as already documented by numerous studies on carcinogenesis in chronic intestinal diseases (13, 34). In fact, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs such as aspirin significantly reduce the risk of CRC by inhibiting cyclo-oxygenase-2 (COX-2). The pathophysiology involves the action of adipokines (leptin, adiponektin, cytokines, TNF- α , and IL-6) that activate many mucosal signals with subsequent activation of the transcription

factor kB (NF-kB), hyper-expression of the nitroxide synthetase enzyme, and COX-2, with consequential suppression of apoptosis, a prerequisite for the activation of carcinogenesis (912, 3537). Another confirmatory test of this chronic inflammatory state is the elevation of calprotectin level, which can be assessed in neutrophils, lymphocytes, and macrophages (38). Presently, high levels of calprotectin represent an important diagnostic modality for determining the level of activity of chronic intestinal diseases, also correlating positively with age, obesity, and physical inactivity (38).

4. RED MEAT INTAKE

Although a correlation between high consumption of red meat and increased risk of CRC has long been postulated, there is no evidence to date supporting this relationship. There are numerous studies in the literature on this topic, some of which found no significant association, while some others reported an increased risk only for carcinoma of the colon and not of the rectum (39, 45-46). According to the results of a prospective study conducted in approximately 89,000 American women published in 1990 by Willett et al, there is a relative risk of developing colon cancer of 1.9 for the highest quintile of meat intake, as compared with the lowest one (P < 0.01) (42). One of the most recent meta-analyses reviewed 15 prospective studies conducted on the consumption of red meat and 14 studies conducted on the use of preserved meat (for a total of approximately 15,270 cases considered). The study showed that the relative risk of developing CRC associated with the intake of high amounts of red meat is 1.28 (CI, 1.15-1.42) and, for those who consume preserved meat, it is 1.20 (CI, 1.11-1.31) (47). Similarly, other studies have linked the risk of developing colon cancer not only to the use of red meat, but also to the way of cooking it, with particular emphasis on temperature, time, and degree of cooking (4849). On their study on screening-detected colorectal adenomas, Rashmi Sinha et al. showed that red meat, broiled meats, bacon, and sausage have been associated with an increased risk of adenoma of the colon (descending and sigmoid colon), non-advanced adenomas, and single adenomas (48). The mechanisms underlying the relationship between diets based on red meat cooked at high temperatures and the onset of CRC remain unknown, although several possible explanations are proposed. The ingestion of meat cooked at high temperatures, such as frying and grilling, leads to the formation of numerous and proven carcinogenic substances such as polycyclic amines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons such as benzopyrene. Moreover, many preserved meats contain relatively high levels of nitrite. Nitrate, along with proteins and heme, contribute to the production of nitrosamines, responsible for mutagenic action (4954). Red meat is also a rich source of iron, which itself is associated with an increased risk of colorectal carcinoma, as a major intracellular pro-oxidant. In this regard, it is considered that the heme derived from the ingestion of red meat can directly damage the mucosa of the colon, as opposed to white meat that does not seem to be correlated with an increased risk of carcinoma (53). In conclusion, although evidence from several studies shows a direct correlation between the high consumption of red or preserved meat and the onset of CRC, no significant risk reduction has been observed in vegetarian patients in either Europe or the U.S. (54). Therefore, it is less likely that the mere use of red meat can fully explain the high incidence of CRC in industrialized Western countries, as compared to developing regions (Asia and Africa).

5. GLYCEMIC INDEX, GLYCEMIC LOAD, AND INSULIN RESISTANCE

Many authors report a strong epidemiological correlation of CRC and non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with altered postprandial glucose tolerance (16, 55). Some authors suggest a direct link between an altered metabolic status and the perpetuation of a chronic low inflammatory state in the colonic mucosa, which, in turn, may be the basis of CRC development (13, 16). The presence of insulin resistance—a condition characterized by impaired glucose tolerance, elevated plasma insulin levels, and elevated insulin-like growth factor 1-seems to be correlated with a high susceptibility to colon cancer. This association would also be supported by the insulin-driven hyperproliferation of colonic epithelial cells (in rat models). In addition, the *in vitro* exposure of CRC cells to insulin leads to an increased rate of proliferation and impaired apoptosis, both of which favor tumorigenesis (5658).

Clinically, the 2 most important parameters determining glycemic intake are glycemic index and glycemic load (59). The glycemic index is a direct measurement of the blood-glucose elevation induced by the consumption of a particular carbohydrate type, in comparison with the one induced by a standard food carbohydrate such as glucose. The widespread use of refined carbohydrates in western diets leads to higher glycemic indexes than that used in other foods such as legumes and grain cereals. The glycemic load is the product of the glycemic index of the food and the total amount of carbohydrate consumed in the meal. Franceschi et al. reported a direct association between CRC risk and the highest quintile of glycemic index and glycemic load (OR = 1.7 and 1.8, respectively) (60). Conversely, a recent meta-analysis, including cohort- and case-control studies, found no significant associations between CRC risk and the different degrees of glycemic indices and glycemic loads.

6. SMOKING AND ALCOHOL

Smoking causes more than 400,000 deaths in the US each year, approximately one-third of which are due to neoplasms (61-62). Although a correlation between smoking and the onset of adenomatous polyps has been established, many cancer research, control, and prevention associations in the US have not included cigarette smoking among the risk factors for CRC (63-66). Recent studies revaluating the epidemiological data of regular tobacco smokers have refocused on this association (67-71). Chao reported a significant increase in cancer risk after a period of 20 years of smoking, in both men and women; this risk was directly proportional to the period of nicotine addiction and the average daily number of cigarettes smoked, while a sharp risk reduction was reported after quitting smoking (62). In

addition, in the multivariate analysis on the prevalence of CRC in tobacco smokers conducted by Anderson, regular smokers were more likely to have an adenomatous lesion or a colorectal neoplasm, as compared to those who had never smoked. These findings were associated with a significantly higher risk for rectal and left colon neoplasm (72). Moreover, in the population analyzed by the authors, smoking represented a greater risk for CRC than a family history of CRC (72). A recent prospective study by Lieberman, investigating the risk factors associated with advanced colonic cancers and the onset of hyper-plastic polyps in 3,121 asymptomatic patients between 50 and 75 years of age, showed a significant association between smoking and the risk for cancer. In particular, the risk was higher for current smokers who smoked more than 25 packages per year, and for former smokers who used to smoke more than 49 packages annually (73).

In 2007, a prospective study by Paskett *et al.* examined the association between the risk of invasive CRC and active and passive exposure to cigarette smoke. The authors studied a group of 1,468,777 healthy women divided in 3 subgroups according to their smoking habits. They demonstrated a statistically higher association between cancer and smoking (P=0.05), age of starting smoking (P=0.03), number of cigarettes smoked per day (P=0.006), and duration of nicotine dependence (P<0.001) (74). A further multivariate and site-specific analysis related to tumor localization indicated a significant increase in the risk of cancer of the rectum, compared to cancer of the left colon, in smokers. No statistically significant correlation was found with regard to passive exposure to cigarette smoke (74).

Other studies have clarified the etiopathogenetic synergism between smoking and alcohol intake. The effects of cigarette smoking on the possibility of CRC onset are exacerbated when associated with alcoholism (75).

7. DIETARY FIBERS

A high consumption of dietary fiber seems to have a protective effect against CRC. Thus, rural populations manifest a low incidence of CRC because of their typical diet containing very high levels of non-digestible polysaccharides derived from unrefined plant cell walls (76-77). The mechanism of action is complex and seems related to the synergism between functional bulk laxative effects and an increased growth of commensal bacteria by anaerobic fermentation. This leads to the release of many short-chain fatty acids such as acetate, propionate, and butyric acid into the colonic mucosa (78). Among them, butyric acid is a biologically active product thought to suppress mitosis by promoting the histone deacetylase enzyme inhibitor (102 in Johnson), which increases differentiation and stimulates apoptosis (78). Cumming et al. reported an inverse relationship between total fecal weight and the risk of CRC among patients consuming different levels of dietary fiber (79). In contrast, Fuchs et al., Pietinen et al., and Terry et al. did not detect any protective effects of fiber intake in their prospective studies (80-82), even though it is argued that the hypothesis has not been adequately tested because of the relatively small statistical power of those prospective studies. A large trial designed to overcome these limitations, the EPIC study, suggests a possible protective role of dietary fibers against CRC in most of the developed world, but only when consumed for long periods of time and in large quantities (85).

8. FRUITS AND VEGETABLES

The 21th century began with the slogan that daily fruit and vegetable intake could reduce the risk of many cancers. In fact, the report on diet and cancer of the World Cancer Research in 1997 showed convincing evidence of the protective effects of fruits and vegetables against gastrointestinal cancer (83). Subsequently, the International Agency for Research on Cancer in 2003 formulated more cautious conclusions based on the limited evidence of cancer-preventive effect of fruits and vegetables on gastrointestinal cancers (84). Today, the true significance of fruit and vegetable consumption as protective factors against CRC remains controversial, as large prospective studies have been completed and no statistically significant correlation is found. The EPIC prospective study on diet and cancer produced only weak evidence of protective effects of fruits and vegetables against gastrointestinal tract cancers (85). The supposed benefit of high intake of fruits and vegetables against CRC is based on the biological activity of flavonoids in the modulation of carcinogen metabolism and inflammatory pathways (86). Among the flavonoids, the most important are the flavanols, including epigallocatechin (EGC) gallate, the putative main anticarcinogenic component of green tea, which is thought to be able to inhibit at various stages the activation of NF-kB, one of the most important components of inflammatory pathways (84). A recent meta-analysis published by Sun et al. found statistical evidence for the protective effect of green tea against colon cancer, but found no evidence supporting the protective effect against rectal cancer (88). The same group has analyzed the relationship between urinary metabolites of tea polyphenols and the risk of CRC in a cohort of 18.244 Chinese men. The authors found that a higher level of EGC and 4-o-methyl-EGC in urine is associated with a significantly lower risk of colon cancer, but not of rectal cancer (88).

9. FISH AND N-3 POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS

A high dietary intake of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids from oily fish can protect against CRC by inhibiting the expression and activity of COX-2 and by reducing the production of proinflammatory eicosanoids. This action is similar to the known protective mechanism of aspirin and other NSAIDs (46, 89). The EPIC study showed an inverse association between fish intake and CRC risk, especially in people consuming more than 40 g of fish per day (46). However, in a recent systematic review, MacLean *et al.* found no benefit of high fish intake in protecting against CRC (90).

New epidemiological evidence shows that the protective effects of fish may be associated with particular genetic polymorphisms of some key proteins such as perox-

isome proliferator-activated receptors and COX-2 expression (9293).

10. FOLATE

Folate is a B vitamin contained generally in fresh fruits and green vegetables and is essential for normal DNA synthesis and replication as well as for epigenetic regulation of gene expression (9495). Folate deficiency causes genomic instability and chromosomal breaks, and aberrant DNA methylation might lead to cancer (96). In previous epidemiologic and clinical studies, the risk of CRC was directly related to low levels of folate (97-100). Multiple case-control and observational cohort studies report a reduction of 30%-40% in CRC risk for patients with high levels of folate consumption compared with patients with the lowest intake (99101). Recently, however, animal studies have suggested that high levels of folate might promote colorectal oncogenesis by enhancing pre-existing adenomatous polyps (102). The protection provided by folate supplementation in the diet might depend on the stage of colorectal carcinogenesis. Hence, folate may generally have a protective role against neoplasia in normal colorectal mucosa, but it may also enhance pre-existing adenomatous lesions (102, 103).

11. CONCLUSION

According to the studies analyzed, it can be concluded that Western diets and high levels of energy intake can be considered as relevant risk factors in the development of CRC, together with positive family history and the presence of adenomatoid lesions. In the Western population, obesity and lack of physical activity represent the most important risk factors for developing colon cancer. In particular, waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio are strongly associated with colon cancer in both men and women, suggesting that fat distribution is still one of the most important risk factors. Processed and broiled meats also increase CRC risk by producing cancerous factors such as N-nitrous compounds, heterocyclic amines, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. The results regarding the effect of smoking on CRC are discordant between studies. Some authors have reported a greater risk for colon and rectal cancer for smokers than for patients with a family history of cancer. However, no significant associations between CRC risk and the highest glycemic index have been shown in a recent systematic review. There is weak evidence regarding the protective effects of fruit and vegetable consumption together with fish and n-3 polynsaturated fatty acid intake. In order to undertake adequate primary prevention, it is of paramount importance to recognize the role of environmental factors in the development of CRC. This should include the treatment of obesity, a reduction in the intake of fats, increased consumption of fruits and vegetables, and moderation in the intake of alcohol.

12. REFERENCES

1. Parkin DM, F Bray, J Ferlay, P Pisani, Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA Cancer J Clin* 55, 74-108 (2005)

- 2. Gonder U, N Worm. Re: Meat, fish, and colorectal cancer risk: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 97, 1788; author reply 1788-9 (2005)
- 3. Tumori del colon-retto, Reparto Epidemiologia dei Tumori del Centro Nazionale di Epidemiologia Sorveglianza e Promozione della Salute dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanità 2005.
- 4. Johnson IT. New approaches to the role of diet in the prevention of cancers of the alimentary tract. Mutat Res. 3;551(1-2):9-28. Review. (2004)
- 5. Key TJ, NE Allen, EA Spencer, RC Travis, The effect of diet on risk of cancer. *Lancet* 360, 861-868 (2002)
- 6. Flood DM, NS Weiss, LS Cook, JC Emerson, SM Schwartz, JD Potter, Colorectal cancer incidence in Asian migrants to the United States and their descendants. *Cancer Causes Control* 11, 403-411 (2000)
- 7. Wiseman M, The second World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research expert report. Food, nutrition, physical activity, and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. *Proc Nutr Soc* 67, 253-256 (2008)
- 8. Arasaradnam RP, DM Commane, D Bradburn, JC Mathers, A review of dietary factors and its influence on DNA methylation in colorectal carcinogenesis. *Epigenetics* 3, 193-198 (2008)
- 9. Tuynman JB, MP Peppelenbosch, DJ Richel, COX-2 inhibition as a tool to treat and prevent colorectal cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 52, 81-101 (2004)
- 10. Rondinone CM, Adipocyte-derived hormones, cytokines, and mediators. *Endocrine* 29, 81-90 (2006)
- 11. Trayhurn P, JH Beattie, Physiological role of adipose tissue: white adipose tissue as an endocrine and secretory organ. *Proc Nutr Soc* 60, 329-339 (2001)
- 12. Fantuzzi G, Adipose tissue, adipokines, and inflammation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 115, 911-9; quiz 920 (2005)
- 13. Hotamisligil GS, Inflammation and metabolic disorders. *Nature* 444, 860-867 (2006)
- 14. Chan AT, EL Giovannucci, JA Meyerhardt, ES Schernhammer, GC Curhan, CS Fuchs, Long-term use of aspirin and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and risk of colorectal cancer. *JAMA* 294, 914-923 (2005)
- 15. Bingham SA, Diet and colorectal cancer prevention. *Biochem Soc Trans* 28, 12-16 (2000)
- 16. Winawer SJ, Natural history of colorectal cancer. *Am J Med* 106, 3S-6S; discussion 50S-51S (1999)

- 17. Hill MJ, BC Morson, HJ Bussey, Aetiology of adenoma--carcinoma sequence in large bowel. *Lancet* 1, 245-247 (1978)
- 18. Lamlum H, A Papadopoulou, M Ilyas, A Rowan, C Gillet, A Hanby, I Talbot, W Bodmer, I Tomlinson, APC mutations are sufficient for the growth of early colorectal adenomas, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 2225-2228 (2000)
- 19. Gafa R, G Lanza, Expression of protein p53 in the adenoma-colorectal carcinoma sequence. *Pathologica* 90, 351-356 (1998)
- 20. Jubb AM, SM Bell, P Quirke, Methylation and colorectal cancer. *J Pathol* 195, 111-134 (2001)
- 21. Issa JP, The epigenetics of colorectal cancer. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 910, 140-53; discussion 153-5 (2000)
- 22. Esteller M, JG Herman, Cancer as an epigenetic disease: DNA methylation and chromatin alterations in human tumours. *J Pathol* 196, 1-7 (2002)
- 23. Moghaddam AA, M Woodward, R Huxley, Obesity and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of 31 studies with 70,000 events. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 16, 2533-2547 (2007)
- 24. Cappellani A, Di Vita M, Zanghi A, Cavallaro A, Piccolo G, Veroux M, Berretta M, Malaguarnera M, Canzonieri V, Lo Menzo E. Diet, obesity and breast cancer: an update. Front Biosci (Schol Ed) 4:90-108 (2012)
- 25. Berretta M, Lleshi A, Fisichella R, Berretta S, Basile F, Li Volti G, Bolognese A, Biondi A, Paoli PD, Tirelli U, Cappellani A. The role of nutrition in the development of esophageal cancer: what do we know? Front Biosci (EliteEd) 4:351-7. (2012)
- 26. Berretta M, Cappellani A, Lleshi A, Di Vita M, Lo Menzo E, Bearz A, Galvano F, Spina M, Malaguarnera M, Tirelli U, Berretta S. The role of diet in gastric cancer: still an open question. Front Biosci.;17:1640-7. (2012) 27. Lee IM, RS Paffenbarger Jr, Quetelet's index and risk
- 27. Lee IM, RS Paffenbarger Jr, Quetelet's index and risk of colon cancer in college alumni. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 84, 1326-1331 (1992)
- 28. Dietz AT, PA Newcomb, PM Marcus, BE Storer, The association of body size and large bowel cancer risk in Wisconsin (United States) women. *Cancer Causes Control* 6, 30-36 (1995)
- 29. Boutron-Ruault MC, P Senesse, S Meance, C Belghiti, J Faivre, Energy intake, body mass index, physical activity, and the colorectal adenoma-carcinoma sequence. *Nutr Cancer* 39, 50-57 (2001)
- 30. Friedenreich C, T Norat, K Steindorf, MC Boutron-Ruault, T Pischon, M Mazuir, F Clavel-Chapelon, J Linseisen, H Boeing, M Bergman, NF Johnsen, A Tjonneland, K Overvad, M Mendez, JR Quiros, C Martinez, M Dorronsoro, C Navarro, AB Gurrea, S

- Bingham, KT Khaw, N Allen, T Key, A Trichopoulou, D Trichopoulos, N Orfanou, V Krogh, D Palli, R Tumino, S Panico, P Vineis, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita, PH Peeters, E Monninkhof, G Berglund, J Manjer, P Ferrari, N Slimani, R Kaaks, E Riboli, Physical activity and risk of colon and rectal cancers: the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 15, 2398-2407 (2006)
- 31. Moore LL, ML Bradlee, MR Singer, GL Splansky, MH Proctor, RC Ellison, BE Kreger, BMI and waist circumference as predictors of lifetime colon cancer risk in Framingham Study adults. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 28, 559-567 (2004)
- 32. Pischon T, PH Lahmann, H Boeing, C Friedenreich, T Norat, A Tjonneland, J Halkjaer, K Overvad, F Clavel-Chapelon, MC Boutron-Ruault, G Guernec, MM Bergmann, J Linseisen, N Becker, A Trichopoulou, D Trichopoulos, S Sieri, D Palli, R Tumino, P Vineis, S Panico, PH Peeters, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita, HC Boshuizen, B Van Guelpen, R Palmqvist, G Berglund, CA Gonzalez, M Dorronsoro, A Barricarte, C Navarro, C Martinez, JR Quiros, A Roddam, N Allen, S Bingham, KT Khaw, P Ferrari, R Kaaks, N Slimani, E Riboli, Body size and risk of colon and rectal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) *J Natl Cancer Inst* 98, 920-931 (2006)
- 33. Wiseman M, The second World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research expert report. Food, nutrition, physical activity, and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. *Proc Nutr Soc* 67, 253-256 (2008)
- 34. Munkholm P, Review article: the incidence and prevalence of colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 18 Suppl 2, 1-5 (2003)
- 35. John BJ, S Irukulla, AM Abulafi, D Kumar, MA Mendall, Systematic review: adipose tissue, obesity and gastrointestinal diseases. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 23, 1511-1523 (2006)
- 36. Erlinger TP, EA Platz, N Rifai, K J. Helzlsouer, C-reactive protein and the risk of incident colorectal cancer. *JAMA* 291, 585-590 (2004)
- 37. Ito Y, K Suzuki, K Tamakoshi, K Wakai, M Kojima, K Ozasa, Y Watanabe, M Kawado, S Hashimoto, S Suzuki, S Tokudome, H Toyoshima, N Hayakawa, K Kato, M Watanabe, Y Ohta, M Maruta, A Tamakoshi, for the JACC Study Group, Colorectal cancer and serum C-reactive protein levels: a case-control study nested in the JACC Study. *J Epidemiol* 15 Suppl 2, S185-9 (2005)
- 38. Poullis A, R Foster, A Shetty, MK Fagerhol, MA Mendall, Bowel inflammation as measured by fecal calprotectin: a link between lifestyle factors and colorectal cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 13, 279-284 (2004)
- 39. Glade MJ, Food, nutrition, and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. American Institute for Cancer

- Research/World Cancer Research Fund, American Institute for Cancer Research, 1997, *Nutrition* 15, 523-526 (1999)
- 40. Norat T, A Lukanova, P Ferrari, E Riboli, Meat consumption and colorectal cancer risk: dose-response meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Int J Cancer* 98, 241-256 (2002)
- 41. Sandhu MS, IR White, K McPherson: Systematic review of the prospective cohort studies on meat consumption and colorectal cancer risk: a meta-analytical approach, *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 10, 439-446 (2001)
- 42. Wei EK, E Giovannucci, K Wu, B Rosner, CS Fuchs, WC Willett, GA Colditz, Comparison of risk factors for colon and rectal cancer. *Int J Cancer* 108, 433-442 (2004)
- 43. Flood A, EM Velie, R Sinha, N Chaterjee, JV Lacey Jr, C Schairer, A Schatzkin, Meat, fat, and their subtypes as risk factors for colorectal cancer in a prospective cohort of women. *Am J Epidemiol* 158, 59-68 (2003)
- 44. Chao A, MJ Thun, CJ Connell, ML McCullough, EJ Jacobs, WD Flanders, C Rodriguez, R Sinha, EE Calle, Meat consumption and risk of colorectal cancer. *JAMA* 293, 172-182 (2005)
- 45. Willett WC, MJ Stampfer, GA Colditz, BA Rosner, FE Speizer, Relation of meat, fat, and fiber intake to the risk of colon cancer in a prospective study among women. *N Engl J Med* 323, 1664-1672 (1990)
- 46. Norat T, S Bingham, P Ferrari, N Slimani, M Jenab, M Mazuir, K Overvad, A Olsen, A Tjonneland, F Clavel, MC Boutron-Ruault, E Kesse, H Boeing, MM Bergmann, A Nieters, J Linseisen, A Trichopoulou, D Trichopoulos, Y Tountas, F Berrino, D Palli, S Panico, R Tumino, P Vineis, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita, PH Peeters, D Engeset, E Lund, G Skeie, E Ardanaz, C Gonzalez, C Navarro, JR. Quiros, MJ Sanchez, G Berglund, I Mattisson, G Hallmans, R Palmqvist, NE Day, KT Khaw, TJ Key, M San Joaquin, B Hemon, R Saracci, R Kaaks, E Riboli, Meat, fish, and colorectal cancer risk: the European Prospective Investigation into cancer and nutrition. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 97, 906-916 (2005)
- 47. Larsson SC, A Wolk, Meat consumption and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Int J Cancer* 119, 2657-2664 (2006)
- 48. Sinha R, U Peters, AJ Cross, M Kulldorff, JL Weissfeld, PF Pinsky, N Rothman, RB Hayes, Meat, meat cooking methods and preservation, and risk for colorectal adenoma. *Cancer Res* 65, 8034-8041 (2005)
- 49. Santarelli RL, F Pierre, DE Corpet, Processed meat and colorectal cancer: a review of epidemiologic and experimental evidence. *Nutr Cancer* 60, 131-144 (2008)

- 50. Bingham SA, B Pignatelli, JR Pollock, A Ellul, C Malaveille, G Gross, S Runswick, JH Cummings, IK O'Neill, Does increased endogenous formation of N-nitroso compounds in the human colon explain the association between red meat and colon cancer? *Carcinogenesis* 17, 515-523 (1996)
- 51. Sinha R, N Rothman, CP Salmon, MG Knize, ED Brown, CA Swanson, D Rhodes, S Rossi, JS Felton, OA Levander, Heterocyclic amine content in beef cooked by different methods to varying degrees of doneness and gravy made from meat drippings. *Food Chem Toxicol* 36, 279-287 (1998)
- 52. Wu K, E Giovannucci, C Byrne, EA Platz, C Fuchs, WC Willett, R Sinha, Meat mutagens and risk of distal colon adenoma in a cohort of U.S. men. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 15, 1120-1125 (2006)
- 53. Nelson RL, Iron and colorectal cancer risk: human studies. *Nutr Rev* 59, 140-148 (2001)
- 54. Sanjoaquin MA, PN Appleby, M Thorogood, JI Mann, TJ Key, Nutrition, lifestyle and colorectal cancer incidence: a prospective investigation of 10998 vegetarians and non-vegetarians in the United Kingdom. *Br J Cancer* 90, 118-121 (2004)
- 55. C. La Vecchia, B. D'Avanzo, E. Negri and S. Franceschi: History of selected diseases and the risk of colorectal cancer, *Eur J Cancer* 27, 582-586 (1991)
- 56. Palmqvist R, G Hallmans, S Rinaldi, C Biessy, R Stenling, E Riboli, R Kaaks, Plasma insulin-like growth factor 1, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3, and risk of colorectal cancer: a prospective study in northern Sweden. *Gut* 50, 642-646 (2002)
- 57. Tran TT, D Naigamwalla, AI Oprescu, L Lam, G McKeown-Eyssen, WR Bruce, A Giacca, Hyperinsulinemia, but not other factors associated with insulin resistance, acutely enhances colorectal epithelial proliferation *in vivo*. *Endocrinology* 147, 1830-1837 (2006)
- 58. Giovannucci E, Insulin, insulin-like growth factors and colon cancer: a review of the evidence. *J Nutr* 131, 3109S-20S (2001)
- 59. Mulholland HG, LJ Murray, CR Cardwell, MM Cantwell, Glycemic index, glycemic load, and risk of digestive tract neoplasms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr* 89, 568-576 (2009)
- 60. Franceschi S, L Dal Maso, L Augustin, E. Negri, M Parpinel, P Boyle, DJ Jenkins, C La Vecchia, Dietary glycemic load and colorectal cancer risk. *Ann Oncol* 12, 173-178 (2001)
- 61. Nelson DE, RS Kirkendall, RL Lawton, JH Chrismon, RK Merritt, DA Arday, GA Giovino, Surveillance for smoking-attributable mortality and years of potential life

- lost, by state--United States. 1990, MMWR CDC Surveill Summ 43, 1-8 (1994)
- 62. Chao A, MJ Thun, EJ Jacobs, SJ Henley, C Rodriguez, EE Calle, Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer mortality in the cancer prevention study II. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 92, 1888-1896 (2000)
- 63. Peipins LA, RS Sandler, Epidemiology of colorectal adenomas. *Epidemiol Rev* 16, 273-297 (1994)
- 64. Kahn HS, LM Tatham, MJ Thun, CW Heath Jr, Risk factors for self-reported colon polyps. *J Gen Intern Med* 13, 303-310 (1998)
- 65. Kahn HA, The Dorn study of smoking and mortality among U.S. veterans: report on eight and one-half years of observation. *Natl Cancer Inst Monogr* 19, 1-125 (1966)
- 66. Yamada K, S Araki, M Tamura, I Sakai, Y Takahashi, H Kashihara, S Kono, Case-control study of colorectal carcinoma *in situ* and cancer in relation to cigarette smoking and alcohol use (Japan) *Cancer Causes Control* 8, 780-785 (1997)
- 67. Hsing AW, JK McLaughlin, WH Chow, LM Schuman, HT Co Chien, G Gridley, E Bjelke, S Wacholder, WJ Blot, Risk factors for colorectal cancer in a prospective study among U.S. white men. *Int J Cancer* 77, 549-553 (1998)
- 68. Giovannucci E, GA Colditz, MJ Stampfer, D Hunter, BA Rosner, WC Willett, FE Speizer, A prospective study of cigarette smoking and risk of colorectal adenoma and colorectal cancer in U.S. women. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 86, 192-199 (1994)
- 69. Knekt P, M Hakama, R Jarvinen, E Pukkala, M Heliovaara, Smoking and risk of colorectal cancer. *Br J Cancer* 78, 136-139 (1998)
- 70. Le Marchand L, LR Wilkens, LN Kolonel, JH Hankin, LC Lyu, Associations of sedentary lifestyle, obesity, smoking, alcohol use, and diabetes with the risk of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* 57, 4787-4794 (1997)
- 71. Otani T, M Iwasaki, S Yamamoto, T Sobue, T Hanaoka, M Inoue, S Tsugane, for the Japan Public Health Center-based Prospective Study Group, Alcohol consumption, smoking, and subsequent risk of colorectal cancer in middle-aged and elderly Japanese men and women: Japan Public Health Center-based prospective study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 12, 1492-1500 (2003)
- 72. Anderson JC, R Attam, Z Alpern, CR Messina, P Hubbard, R Grimson, PF Ells, DL Brand, Prevalence of colorectal neoplasia in smokers. *Am J Gastroenterol* 98, 2777-2783 (2003)
- 73. Lieberman DA, S Prindiville, DG Weiss, W Willett, for the VA Cooperative Study Group 380, Risk factors for advanced colonic neoplasia and hyperplastic polyps in asymptomatic individuals. *JAMA* 290, 2959-2967 (2003)

- 74. Paskett ED, KW Reeves, TE Rohan, MA Allison, CD Williams, CR Messina, E Whitlock, A Sato, JR Hunt, Association between cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer in the Women's Health Initiative. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 99, 1729-1735 (2007)
- 75. Poynter JN, RW Haile, KD Siegmund, PT Campbell, JC Figueiredo, P Limburg, J Young, L Le Marchand, JD Potter, M Cotterchio, G Casey, JL Hopper, MA Jenkins, SN Thibodeau, PA Newcomb, JA Baron, for the Colon Cancer Family Registry, Associations between smoking, alcohol consumption, and colorectal cancer, overall and by tumor microsatellite instability status. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 18, 2745-2750 (2009)
- 76. Burkitt DP, Possible relationships between bowel cancer and dietary habits. *Proc R Soc Med* 64, 964-965 (1971)
- 77. Trowell H, D Burkitt, Physiological role of dietary fiber: a ten-year review. *ASDC J Dent Child* 53, 444-447 (1986)
- 78. Myzak MC, E. Ho, RH Dashwood, Dietary agents as histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Mol Carcinog* 45, 443-446 (2006)
- 79. Cummings JH, SA Bingham, KW Heaton, MA Eastwood, Fecal weight, colon cancer risk, and dietary intake of nonstarch polysaccharides (dietary fiber) *Gastroenterology* 103, 1783-1789 (1992)
- 80. Fuchs CS, EL Giovannucci, GA Colditz, DJ Hunter, MJ Stampfer, B Rosner, FE Speizer, WC Willett, Dietary fiber and the risk of colorectal cancer and adenoma in women. *N Engl J Med* 340, 169-176 (1999)
- 81. Pietinen P, N Malila, M Virtanen, TJ Hartman, JA Tangrea, D Albanes, J Virtamo, Diet and risk of colorectal cancer in a cohort of Finnish men. *Cancer Causes Control* 10, 387-396 (1999)
- 82. Terry P, E Giovannucci, KB Michels, L Bergkvist, H Hansen, L Holmberg, A Wolk, Fruit, vegetables, dietary fiber, and risk of colorectal cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 93, 525-533 (2001)
- 83. Glade MJ, Food, nutrition, and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. American Institute for Cancer Research/World Cancer Research Fund, American Institute for Cancer Research, 1997, *Nutrition* 15, 523-526 (1999)
- 84. Riboli E, T Norat, Epidemiologic evidence of the protective effect of fruit and vegetables on cancer risk. *Am J Clin Nutr* 78, 559S-569S (2003)
- 85. Gonzalez CA, G Pera, A Agudo, HB Bueno-de-Mesquita, M Ceroti, H Boeing, M Schulz, G Del Giudice, M Plebani, F Carneiro, F Berrino, C Sacerdote, R Tumino, S. Panico, G Berglund, H Siman, G Hallmans, R Stenling, C Martinez, M Dorronsoro, A Barricarte, C Navarro, JR Quiros, N Allen, TJ Key, S Bingham, NE Day, J Linseisen, G Nagel, K Overvad, MK Jensen, A Olsen, A Tjonneland, FL Buchner, PH Peeters, ME Numans, F Clavel-Chapelon,

- MC Boutron-Ruault, D Roukos, A Trichopoulou, T Psaltopoulou, E Lund, C Casagrande, N Slimani, M Jenab, E Riboli, Fruit and vegetable intake and the risk of stomach and oesophagus adenocarcinoma in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC-EURGAST) *Int J Cancer* 118, 2559-2566 (2006)
- 86. Pierini R, JM Gee, NJ Belshaw, IT Johnson, Flavonoids and intestinal cancers. *Br J Nutr* 99 E Suppl 1, ES53-9 (2008)
- 87. Chou FP, YC Chu, JD Hsu, HC Chiang, CJ Wang, Specific induction of glutathione S-transferase GSTM2 subunit expression by epigallocatechin gallate in rat liver. *Biochem Pharmacol* 60, 643-650 (2000)
- 88. Sun CL, JM Yuan, WP Koh, MC Yu, Green tea, black tea and colorectal cancer risk: a meta-analysis of epidemiologic studies. *Carcinogenesis* 27, 1301-1309 (2006)
- 89. Hall MN, H Campos, H Li, HD Sesso, MJ Stampfer, WC Willett, J Ma, Blood levels of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, aspirin, and the risk of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 16, 314-321 (2007)
- 90. Corona G, JP Spencer, MA Dessi, Extra virgin olive oil phenolics: absorption, metabolism, and biological activities in the GI tract. *Toxicol Ind Health* 25, 285-293 (2009)
- 91. MacLean CH, SJ Newberry, WA Mojica, P Khanna, AM Issa, MJ Suttorp, YW Lim, SB Traina, L Hilton, R Garland, SC Morton, Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on cancer risk: a systematic review, *JAMA* 295, 403-415 (2006)
- 92. Theodoropoulos G, I Papaconstantinou, E Felekouras, N Nikiteas, P Karakitsos, D Panoussopoulos, AC Lazaris, E Patsouris, J Bramis, M Gazouli, Relation between common polymorphisms in genes related to inflammatory response and colorectal cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 12, 5037-5043 (2006)
- 93. Pereira C, P Pimentel-Nunes, C Brandao, L Moreira-Dias, R Medeiros, M Dinis-Ribeiro, COX-2 polymorphisms and colorectal cancer risk: a strategy for chemoprevention. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 22, 607-613 (2010)
- 94. Du W, WY Li, R Lu, JY Fang, Folate and fiber in the prevention of colorectal cancer: between shadows and the light. *World J Gastroenterol* 16, 921-926 (2010)
- 95. Taioli E, MA Garza, YO Ahn, DT Bishop, J Bost, B Budai, K Chen, F Gemignani, T Keku, CS Lima, L Le Marchand, K Matsuo, V Moreno, J Plaschke, M Pufulete, SB Thomas, G Toffoli, CR Wolf, CG Moore, J Little, Meta- and pooled analyses of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T polymorphism and colorectal cancer: a HuGE-GSEC review. *Am J Epidemiol* 170, 1207-1221 (2009)

- 96. Ames BN, DNA damage from micronutrient deficiencies is likely to be a major cause of cancer. *Mutat Res* 475, 7-20 (2001)
- 97. Van Guelpen B, J Hultdin, I Johansson, G Hallmans, R Stenling, E Riboli, A Winkvist, R Palmqvist, Low folate levels may protect against colorectal cancer. *Gut* 55, 1461-1466 (2006)
- 98. Sanjoaquin MA, N. Allen, E Couto, AW Roddam, TJ Key, Folate intake and colorectal cancer risk: a meta-analytical approach. *Int J Cancer* 113, 825-828 (2005)
- 99. Ulrich CM, Nutrigenetics in cancer research--folate metabolism and colorectal cancer. *J Nutr* 135, 2698-2702 (2005)
- 100. Kim YI, Folate and DNA methylation: a mechanistic link between folate deficiency and colorectal cancer? *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 13, 511-519 (2004)
- 101. Giovannucci E, Epidemiologic studies of folate and colorectal neoplasia: a review. *J Nutr* 132, 2350S-2355S (2002)
- 102. Kim YI, Folate and colorectal cancer: an evidence-based critical review. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 51, 267-292 (2007)
- 103. Cole BF, JA Baron, RS Sandler, RW Haile, DJ Ahnen, RS Bresalier, G McKeown-Eyssen, R W. Summers, RI Rothstein, CA Burke, DC Snover, TR Church, JI Allen, DJ Robertson, GJ Beck, JH Bond, T Byers, JS Mandel, LA Mott, LH Pearson, EL Barry, JR Rees, N Marcon, F Saibil, PM Ueland, ER Greenberg, for the Polyp Prevention Study Group, Folic acid for the prevention of colorectal adenomas: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 297, 2351-2359 (2007)
- **Key Words:** Colorectal cancer, Dietary habits, Fibers Intake, Folate, Meat Intake, Methylation, Obesity, Review
- Send correspondence to: Maria Di Vita, Department of Surgery, General Surgery and Breast Unit, University of Catania, Azienda Ospedaliero, Universitaria Policlinico, Vittorio Emanuele, via S. Sofia, 78 95123 Catania Italy, Tel: 39-095-3781111 Fax: 39-095-335146 E-mail: maria.divita@tiscali.it